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Currency (indicate

units, if applicable)
PESO

Balance Sheet

Period Ended Fiscal Year Ended (Audited)

Mar 31, 2025 Dec 31, 2024

Current Assets 27,319,465,607 27,519,460,822

Total Assets 33,262,037,277 33,248,650,956

Current Liabilities 24,951,237,777 24,949,723,290

Total Liabilities 25,954,644,152 25,952,677,765

Retained

Earnings/(Deficit)
(278,994,770) (15,109,658)

Stockholders' Equity 7,307,393,130 7,295,973,191

Stockholders' Equity - Parent 3,717,314,164 3,973,378,240

Book Value per Share 0.49 0.49

Income Statement

Current Year

(3 Months)

Previous Year

(3 Months)
Current Year-To-Date Previous Year-To-Date

Gross Revenue 12,749,716,239 13,068,704,687 12,749,716,239 13,068,704,687

Gross Expense 12,515,289,431 12,648,120,112 12,515,289,431 12,648,120,112



Non-Operating Income 161,839,026 91,305,504 161,839,026 91,305,504

Non-Operating

Expense
603,762,188 473,058,490 603,762,188 473,058,490

Income/(Loss) Before

Tax
(207,496,354) 38,831,589 (207,496,354) 38,831,589

Income Tax Expense (92,876,783) 27,256,376 (92,876,783) 27,256,376

Net Income/(Loss) After

Tax
(114,619,571) 11,575,213 (114,619,571) 11,575,213

Net Income Attributable

to

Parent Equity Holder

(162,154,285) (53,489,575) (162,154,285) (53,489,575)

Earnings/(Loss) Per

Share

(Basic)

0 0 0 0

Earnings/(Loss) Per

Share

(Diluted)

0 0 0 0

Current Year (Trailing 12 months) Previous Year (Trailing 12 months)

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (Basic) 0 0

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (Diluted) 0 0

Other Relevant Information

Please refer to attached SEC 17-Q as of 03.31.2025

Filed on behalf by:

Name Dominique Pascua

Designation Compliance Officer



SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
SEC FORM 17-Q 

 
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES 

 REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2)(b) THEREUNDER 
 

 
1. For the quarterly period ended: 31 March 2025 

 
2. Commission identification number: 36359 

 
3. BIR Tax Identification No.: 000-438-702-000 

 
4. Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter: BASIC ENERGY CORPORATION 

 
5. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: Philippines 

 
6. Industry Classification Code:           (SEC Use Only)  
               
7. Address of issuer's principal office: GM Building, 240 EDSA, Wack Wack - Greenhills East, 

Mandaluyong City  
 

Postal code:          1556 
 
8. Issuer's telephone number, including area code: +63 2 3224 4383 
 
9. Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report: N.A. 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code, or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA  
 

Title of each Class Number of shares of common stock outstanding 
and amount of debt outstanding 

Common Shares 14,668,643,064 

Listed with PSE 14,218,643,064 

        
11. Are any or all of the securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes   [X]    No   [   ] 
 

If yes, state the name of such Stock Exchange and the classes of securities listed therein: 
 
Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”)    Common Shares 

 
12. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:  
 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule 17 thereunder or 
Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of the 
Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period 
the registrant was required to file such reports) 

 
        Yes [X]     No   [  ] 
 
 

(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 



 
          Yes [X]    No   [  ] 

 
APPLICABLE ONLY TO REGISTRANTS INVOLVED IN INSOLVENCY/SUSPENSION OF PAYMENTS 

PROCEEDINGS DURING THE PRECEDING FIVE YEARS: 
  
13. Check whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 17 of 

the Code subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court or the 
Commission. 
 

  Yes [  ]            No [X]     This item is not applicable to the Company. 
 
  



PART I--FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 
 Item 1. Financial Statements. 
 

“Attachment A” 
  
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 
 

“Attachment A” 
  

  PART II--OTHER INFORMATION 
   

“Attachment A” 
 

The registrant may, at its option, report under this item any information not previously reported in a report 
on SEC Form 17-C.  If disclosure of such information is made under this Part II, it need not be repeated in a report 
on Form 17-C which would otherwise be required to be filed with respect to such information or in a subsequent 
report on Form 17-Q. 
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Title: Compliance Officer 

Date:  

 
 
 

Principal Financial Officer: Alain S. Pangan 

Title: VP – Finance 

Date:  

 
 
 
 



ATTACHMENT “A” 
 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
For the period ended March 31, 2024 

 
1. The following Unaudited Financial Statements are contained in this report:      
          

1.1 Unaudited Interim Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at March 31, 2025 and 
Audited Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2024 

1.2 Unaudited Interim Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Three Months 
Ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 

1.3 Unaudited Interim Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Three Months Ended 
March 31, 2025 and 2024 

1.4 Unaudited Interim Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 
31, 2025 and 2024 

 
2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the 

period ending December 31, 2024 and March 31, 2025 
 

A. Key Performance Indicators 
  

Management considers the following as key performance indicators of the company: Return on 
Investment (ROI), Profit Margin, Performance of Committed Work Programs, Current Ratio and Asset 
Turnover. 
 
The following table shows the Top 5 performance indicators for the past three interim periods: 

 

Key Performance Indicators 1st Quarter 
2025 

1st Quarter 
2024 

1st Quarter  
2023 

Return on Investments (ROI) 
(Net income / Ave. Stockholders’ Equity) 

-1.57% 0.29% 0.74% 

Profit Margin 
(Net income / Net Revenue) 

-0.90% 0.09% 0.16% 

Current Ratio 
(Current Assets / Current Liabilities) 

1.09:1 1.10:1 1.12:1 

Asset Turnover 
(Net Revenue / Ave. Total Assets) 

38.34% 42.19% 59.14% 

Solvency Ratios    

  Debt to Equity Ratio  3.55 3.27 3.13 

  Asset to Equity Ratio 4.55 4.27 4.13 

  Interest Coverage Ratio 0.50 1.20 1.21 

 
ROI (Net Income / Average Stockholders’ Equity) measures the profitability of stockholders’ 
investment.  Profit Margin (Net Income / Net Revenue) measures the net income produced by each 
peso of revenue. Current Ratio (Current Assets / Current Liabilities) measures the short-term debt-
paying ability of the company.  Asset Turnover (Net Revenue / Average Total Assets) measures how 
efficiently assets are used to produce profit. Solvency Ratios measures the ability to meet the long 
term debts and obligations. 
 
ROI was -1.57% for the 1st quarter of 2025, 0.29% for the 1st quarter of 2024 and 0.74% for the 1st 
quarter of 2023. The positive rates for the periods of 2025, 2024, and 2023 were due to the operating 
costs recognized during the covered periods. 



 
Net Profit Margin was -0.90% for the 1st quarter of 2025, 0.09% for the 1st quarter of 2024 and 0.16% 
for the 1st quarter of 2023. The positive rates for 2025, 2024, and 2023 were due to the revenue 
recognized during the covered periods. 

 
Current Ratio 1.09:1 for the 1st quarter of 2025, 1.10:1 for the 1st quarter of 2024 and 1.12:1 for the 
1st quarter of 2023. The decrease in current ratios in 2025 and 2024 were due to the increases in 
current liabilities. 
 
Asset Turnover was 38.34% in the 1st quarter of 2025, 42.19% in the 1st quarter of 2024 and 59.14% 
in the 1st quarter of 2023. The decrease in asset turnover in 2025 was due to the decrease in revenue 
recognized during the period while the increase in asset turnover in 2024 was due to the increase in 
revenue recognized during the period. 
 
Debt to Equity Ratio was 3.55 in the 1st quarter of 2025, 3.27 in the 1st quarter of 2024, and 3.13 in 
the 1st quarter of 2023. The increase in debt-to-equity ratio in 2025 was due to the increase in liability 
and the increase in debt-to-equity ratio in 2024 was primarily due to the increase in liability. 
 
Asset to Equity Ratio was 4.55 in the 1st quarter of 2025, 4.27 in the 1st quarter of 2024, and 5.13 in 
the 1st quarter of 2023. The increase in ratio for 2025 was due to the increase in assets and the 
decrease in ratio in 2023 was due to the decrease in assets. 
 
Interest Rate Coverage Ratio for the 1st quarter of 2025 was at 0.50 and 1.20 for the 1st quarter of 
2024. The decrease in interest rate coverage ratio was due to the increase in finance cost.  

 
  



B. Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition as of March 31, 2025 
 

For the period ending March 31, 2025, the company recorded total revenue of Php12.74 billion and 
cost of sales of Php12.51 billion resulting in a gross profit of Php153.10 million. Operating expenses 
of Php362.84 million, finance costs of Php228.75 million, share in net loss of associates and joint 
venture of Php48.5 million, other income of Php4.07 million and interest income of Php157.76 million, 
were recorded for the period ending March 31, 2025 resulting in consolidated loss of Php207.49 
million. Consolidated net loss after tax of Php115.445 million was recorded for the period ending 
March 31, 2025 after provision for income tax of Php92.87 million. 

 
Total assets as of March 31, 2025 stood at around Php33.26 billion an increase of around Php13.38 
million from Php33.24 billion as of December 31, 2024. Current assets, composed mostly of cash and 
cash equivalents amounting to Php818.80 million, trade and other receivables amounting to Php18.74 
billion, inventories amounting to Php5.67 billion, and other current assets Php2.078 billion, increased 
by around Php33 million. The decrease in current assets is due to increases in cash and cash 
equivalents of Php845.88 million and other current assets of 33.82 million. The decrease in the 
aforementioned current assets were partially offset by the increase in Trade and other receivables of 
Php228.38 million and in inventories  amounting to 536.49 million. Non-current assets as of March 
31, 2025 amounted to Php5.95 billion increased by around Php213.38 million from its December 31, 
2024 balance. 

 
Total liabilities as of March 31, 2025 increased by around Php1.96 million from Php25.95 billion as of 
December 31, 2024 to Php25.96 billion as of March 31, 2025. Current liabilities, composed of trade 
and other payables amounting to Php8.69 billion and current portion of loans payable amounting to 
Php16.25 billion increased by around Php113.47 million primarily due to the increase in current 
portion of loans payable which was partially offset by the decreases in the trade and other payables 
of around Php111.95 million. Noncurrent liabilities amounting to Php1.01 billion increased by around 
Php15.28 million due to the increase in net deferred tax liability by Php18.15 million. 
 
Total Stockholders’ Equity as of March 31, 2025 stood at Php7.29 billion, with equity attributable to 
equity holders of the parent company at Php3.70 billion and equity attributable to non-controlling 
interest at Php3.59 billion, Total Stockholders’ Equity as of March 31, 2025 of Php7.29 billion 
increased by around Php1.09 million from Php7.29 billion as of December 31, 2024. 
 
The interim financial report is in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. The same 
accounting policies and methods of computation were followed in the interim financial statements, 
as compared with the most recent audited financial statements, which are as of December 31, 2024.  

 
The interim operations are not characterized by any seasonality or cyclicality. The nature and number 
of items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income and cash flows are explained in Attachment 
“A” on Financial Information for the period ending March 31, 2025. 
 
There are no changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the current financial 
year or those reported in prior financial years. 
 
There were no dividends paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and other 
shares. 
 
Currently, the company has a single business and geographical segment and therefore, segment 
disclosures have not been included.                                             
 
There are no material events subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not been reflected 
in the financial statements for the interim period. 
 
There are no changes in the composition of the company during the interim period, including business 



conditions, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings, and 
discontinuing of operations. 
 
Since March 31, 2025, there are no other changes in contingent liabilities or assets and no new 
material contingencies, events or transactions that have occurred during the current interim period. 
 
There are no trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties, known to management that 
will have a material impact on the company’s liquidity. 
 
There are no material commitments for capital expenditures and no seasonal aspects that have a 
material effect on the financial conditions or results of operations. 
 
There are no known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to 
have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from continuing 
operations. 
 
There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligations that are material to the 
company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 
There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, (including 
contingent obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other 
persons created during the reporting period. 
 
The causes for any material changes (5% of the relevant accounts or such lower amount, which the 
company deems material on the basis of other factors) from period to period which include vertical 
and horizontal analysis of any material item, have been presented in this report. 
  
There were no sales of unregistered or exempt securities, nor were there any issuances of securities 
constituting an exempt transaction. 
 
Finally, there are no other material information for disclosure during the current interim period, 
whether under this report or under SEC Form 17-C. 

  



 
C.    Business Development/Project Updates 
 

Wind Energy Project, Mabini, Batangas 

 

The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, RDG Wind Energy Corporation (formerly 

Mabini Energy Corporation) (“RWEC”), has been awarded a Wind Energy Service Contract by the 

DOE on March 17, 2021 to explore, develop, and operate a wind energy power plant for a period 

of twenty-five (25) years, extensible for another twenty-five (25) years. The project shall be 

implemented under R.A. 9513 (Renewable Energy Act of 2008). 

 

The exploration area to be covered is 4,860 hectares situated in Mabini, Batangas. 

 

RWEC has completed the Wind Resource Assessment (“WRA”) campaign in its contracted area 

last May 2024 to fully assess the viability of wind resource in the area. The WRA campaign was 

completed using a meteorological mast and a LIDAR to support the engineering and design of the 

power plant. 

 

Currently, feasibility study, front-end engineering and design, and EPC procurement preparation is 

being done. Upon financial closure of the project, RWEC will notify DOE of its Declaration of 

Commerciality for the wind power plant. Upon approval by the DOE of its commerciality, RWEC will 

start the construction, testing and commissioning of the plant. Commercial operation of the said 

plant is expected to be by end of year 2027. 

 

The Company has recently entered into a Joint Development and Shareholders Agreement with 

Renova, a publicly-listed RE development company in Japan, for a 50:50 partnership for the 

continued development of the Mabini Wind Project. This partnership with Renova will provide RWEC 

with a reliable technical and commercial partner in its Mabini Wind Project. 

 

Wind Energy Project – Panay Island (Iloilo and Antique) 

 

The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, San Joaquin Wind Energy Corporation 

(“SJWEC”), has been awarded with another Wind Energy Service Contract by the DOE on June 

14, 2023. The contracted area covers 13,932 hectares located in San Joaquin, Iloilo and Hamtic 

Antique. Result of preliminary study shows that a potential of 155 MW to 194 MW power capacity 

can be produced in the contracted area. The project shall be implemented under R.A. 9513 

(Renewable Energy Act of 2008). 

 

The Company, through SJWEC, is preparing for the WRA campaign to fully assess the viability of 

wind resources in the area. Request for proposal to wind consultant and service provider for 

securing permits and licenses is on-going. 

 

Wind Energy Project – Calatagan, Batangas 

 

The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Starfish Wind Energy Corporation (“SWEC”), 

has been awarded with another Wind Energy Service Contract by the DOE on June 22, 2023. The 

contracted area, spanning 2,835 hectares in Calatagan, Batangas, is located in shallow waters with 

a bathymetric depth of less than 60 meters. Result of preliminary study shows that a potential of 

140 MW to 175 MW power capacity can be produced in the exploration area. The project shall be 

implemented under R.A. 9513 (Renewable Energy Act of 2008). 

 

Currently, the Company is preparing for the WRA campaign to fully assess the viability of wind 

resource in the area. 

 

Wind Energy Project – Pasuquin, Ilocos Norte 

 

The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Pasuquin Wind Energy Corporation (“PWEC”), 

has been awarded with another Wind Energy Service Contract by the DOE on September 15, 2023. 

The contracted area, spanning 5,502 hectares in Pasuquin, Ilocos Norte, is located in shallow 

waters with a bathymetric depth of less than 60 meters. Result of preliminary study shows that a 



potential of 90 MW to 112 MW power capacity can be produced in the exploration area. The project 

shall be implemented under R.A. 9513 (Renewable Energy Act of 2008). 

 

Currently, the Company is preparing for the WRA campaign to fully assess the viability of wind 

resource in the area. 

 

Solar Energy Project – Bolinao, Pangasinan 

 

The Company is exploring to utilize and develop its more than 41-hectare property in Barangay 

Balingasay, Bolinao, Pangasinan into a solar PV ground-mounted power project. It is expected that 

a capacity of around 45.18 MWp can be developed in the said area based on the preliminary 

feasibility study done by JGC Philippines, Inc., a consulting and engineering firm procured by the 

company to do such study.  

 

The Solar Power Plant will be sent to the grid via a connection to the local electric cooperative, 

Pangasinan Electric Cooperative I (Panelco1), under an embedded set-up. 

 

The Company, through Basic Renewable Inc., has completed the conduct of a Distribution Impact 

Study (DIS) and Distribution Asset Study (DAS) to assess the existing infrastructure of PANELCO I 

prior to project execution. Due to favorable outcome of the said studies, a System Impact Studies 

(SIS) will be done to ensure that energy produced from the plant will able to be delivered to NGCP 

facility. 

 

Solar Energy Project – Mariveles Solar Power Plant 

 

The Department of Energy (DOE) has granted Basic Energy Corporation a Certificate of Authority 

(COA) for the Mariveles Solar Power Project. Issued under the revised Omnibus Guidelines 

Governing the Award and Administration of Renewable Energy Contracts (effective June 2024), the 

COA empowers Basic Energy Corporation to begin securing the necessary permits and tenure 

instruments required for the project. This certificate also allows the company to initiate procurement 

activities ahead of the 25-year SEOC contract term. 

 

The Mariveles Solar Power facility is located Mariveles, Bataan, spanning approximately 72 

hectares. According to a preliminary assessment by an independent third-party firm, the plant is 

expected to generate a peak output of at least 62 megawatts (MWp).  

 

With the COA secured, the Company will now move forward with the next steps in the development 

process. This includes obtaining approvals from relevant national agencies and local government 

units, as well as conducting a System Impact Study in collaboration with the National Grid 

Corporation of the Philippines (NGCP). 

 

The solar project is slated for completion and commissioning by the fourth quarter of 2026, 

contributing to the country’s renewable energy targets. 

 

Solar Energy Project – Cadiz 1 Solar Power Plant 

 

The Department of Energy (DOE) has granted the Company a Certificate of Authority (COA) for its 

proposed Solar Energy Operating Contract (SEOC) application. The COA, issued under the revised 

Omnibus Guidelines Governing the Award and Administration of Renewable Energy (RE) Contracts 

effective June 2024, allows the company to secure the necessary permits and tenurial instruments 

for the project. It also grants the privilege to procure these requirements outside the SEOC’s 25-

year contract period. 

 

Basic Energy’s proposed solar power plant will be developed in Cadiz, Negros Occidental, covering 

approximately 30 hectares. Based on a preliminary study conducted by an independent firm, the 

facility is expected to generate at least 43.41 megawatts peak (MWp) of power. 

 

With the COA in hand, the Company will now begin securing approvals from relevant national 

agencies and local government units. This includes conducting a System Impact Study, which must 

be reviewed and approved by the National Grid Corporation of the Philippines (NGCP). The 

Company has one year to fulfill its obligations under the COA before the DOE issues the SEOC. 



 

The solar project is slated for completion and commissioning by the fourth quarter of 2026, 

contributing to the country’s renewable energy targets. 

 

Geothermal Energy 

 

The Company is likewise involved in the exploration, development, and production of geothermal 

energy. It has been awarded service contracts for various areas by the Department of Energy 

(“DOE”), which prescribes the periods and programs for these service contracts pursuant to R.A. 

9513 (Renewable Energy Act of 2008) for the subsequent geothermal service contract. 

 

The Iriga Geothermal Power Project in Camarines Sur is bounded to the north by Isarog geothermal 

block of PNOC-RC and to the east by the highly productive Tiwi geothermal service contract area 

of formerly Chevron, now AP Renewables Inc. The aerial landscape  is dominated by Iriga or Asog 

Volcano, a stratovolcano immediately southwest of Lake Buhi in southern Luzon. 

 

In 2016, Desco Inc. entered into a Farm-in Agreement with the Company acquiring eighty (80%) 

percent participating interest in and operatorship of the Iriga Geothermal Project. The farm-in 

agreement and transfer of operatorship on the project to Desco Inc. was approved by the DOE in 

a letter received by the Company on November 8, 2016. In 2019, Desco Inc. received DOE’s 

approval for the extension of its work program, which involved securing the permitting requirements 

for the project, NCIP certification and well site preparations for the drilling of exploratory wells. The 

Company has a 20% interest in the project. 

 

Currently, Desco is preparing the access road going to the exploratory well for possible drilling by 

mid of year 2025. 

 

Green Energy E-Transport Program 

 

The Green Energy E-transport Program was conceptualized to address the national thrust of 

promoting renewable energy and the modernization of public-utility vehicles. The program will 

pursue the installation of rooftop solar systems on retail stations in partnership with various oil 

companies. The solar energy generated by the solar system will be stored in powerwall batteries to 

be utilized by the retail station to complement the electricity supply drawn from the grid.  

 

Apart from the solar system, electric charging stations will be installed in the service stations to 

power the batteries of the modern electric buses that will replace the old jeepneys. This is designed 

to jumpstart the availability of e-charging networks for e-buses and other electric vehicles in the 

near future. The entire program is in line and underpinned by the government's direction enshrined 

in R.A. 9513 (Renewable Energy law) and R.A. 11697 (Electric Vehicle Development Law). The 

rooftop solar systems coupled with electric vehicles for public utility will contribute to the reduction 

of carbon emission to address global warming. 

 

Currently, the Company has implemented the program to three different retail stations namely: 

Ecooil Mandaluyong, Ecooil Cainta and Phoenix Vito Cruz. The Company continues to pursue 

partnerships with transport cooperatives and retail stations to replicate the program to different 

parts of the country. 

 

E-Hub: A Renewable Energy and Public Transport Hub 

 

The establishment of a renewable energy and public transport hub to be called the “E-Hub” is 

envisioned to modernize public transportation and generate electricity from renewable energy 

which aims to benefit the residents of the province/city. The E-Hub is comprised of two main 

components. 

 

The first component is the construction of a transport terminal. This will serve as the nexus for 

provincial buses, e-Jeepneys/Buses, and tricycles that will facilitate the seamless movement of the 

commuting public. Additionally, the transport terminal will have EV charging stations and rentable 

merchandising spaces. An allied company will manufacture and supply class 2 and class 3 e-

Jeepneys/Buses to different transport cooperatives. 

 



The second component is the Solar Power Plant with Battery Energy Storage System. The Solar 

Power Plant will supply electricity to the local electric cooperative. Also, the generated electricity 

can power the EV chargers located at the terminal for recharging of e-Jeepneys/Buses. 

 

Currently, the Company has presented the concept to various local government units. Data 

gathering and preliminary study will be conducted to tailor-fit the E-Hub to the requirements and 

needs of the provinces/cities.  



Item 1. Financial Statements 
 
The audited consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the unaudited 
interim consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2025 and for the three (3) months ended  
March 31, 2025 and 2024 and selected notes to the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements 
of Basic Energy Corporation (the Parent Company) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the 
“Group”) are filed as part of this Form 17Q. 
  



BASIC ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT MARCH 31, 2025  

(With Comparative Audited Figures as at December 31, 2024) 
 

 March 31, 2025 December 31, 2024 

ASSETS   

Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents  818,803,909   1,664,685,320  
Trade and other receivables  18,749,026,360   18,520,644,939  
Inventories  5,673,491,186   5,136,991,947  
Excess tax credits  1,649,846,730   1,890,370,207  
Other current assets  428,297,422   221,598,195  
Assets held for sale - 85,170,214 

Total Current Assets  27,319,465,607  27,519,460,822 

Noncurrent Assets   
Property and equipment  4,162,864,054   4,339,630,102  
Investment properties  468,355,025   359,834,102  
Investments in associates and a joint venture  199,920,231   190,982,951  
Receivable from sale of investment in an associate - net of current portion  752,864,835   752,864,835  
Other noncurrent assets  358,567,525   85,878,144  

Total Noncurrent Assets  5,942,571,670   5,729,190,134  

TOTAL ASSETS  33,262,037,277   33,248,650,956  

    

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   

Current Liabilities   
Trade and other payables  8,699,459,880   8,811,417,999  
Current portion of loans payable  16,251,777,897   16,138,305,291  

Total Current Liabilities  24,951,237,777   24,949,723,290  

Noncurrent Liabilities     
Loans payable - net of current portion  67,451,973   68,779,835  
Lease liability - net of current portion  301,823,388   303,366,439  
Net retirement benefit liability  1,944,889   1,944,889  
Net deferred tax liabilities  632,186,123   614,027,802  

Total Noncurrent Liabilities  1,003,406,375   988,118,965  

Total Liabilities  25,954,644,152   25,952,677,765  

Equity    
Capital stock  3,667,160,766   3,667,160,766  
Additional paid-in capital  370,064,055   370,064,055  
Deficit  (278,994,770)  (15,109,658) 
Treasury stock  (3,240,000)  (3,240,000) 
Other equity reserves  (32,675,887)  (45,496,923) 

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the  
 Parent Company 

 3,717,314,164   3,973,378,240  

Equity Attributable to Non-controlling Interests  3,590,078,966   3,322,594,951  

  Total Equity  7,307,393,130   7,295,973,191  

  33,262,037,282   33,248,650,956  

   

 



 
 

BASIC ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2025 AND 2024 

 
 Periods Ended March 31 

 2025 2024 

 ₱12,749,716,239  ₱13,068,704,687 

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES  12,515,289,431  12,648,120,112 

GROSS PROFIT  234,426,808   420,584,575  

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  (326,846,207)  (266,185,007) 

FINANCE COSTS  (228,757,194)  (197,971,949) 

INTEREST INCOME 157,768,906   3,239,481  

SHARE IN NET INCOME (LOSSES) OF ASSOCIATES AND  
A JOINT VENTURE 

 (48,158,787)  (8,901,534) 

GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE -   -    

OTHER INCOME (LOSSES)  4,070,120  88,066,023 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX  (207,496,354)  38,831,589  

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)   
Current  6,395,078   9,573,486  
Deferred  (99,271,861)  17,682,890  

  (92,876,783)  27,256,376  

NET INCOME (LOSS)  (114,619,571)  11,575,213  

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO:   
Equity holders of the Parent Company (₱162,154,285) (₱53,489,575) 
Non-controlling interests  47,534,714 65,064,788 

 (114,619,571) 11,575,213 

Basic/Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share (EPS) (₱0.0078) ₱0.0008 



BASIC ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2025 AND 2024 

 

 

 
 
 

 

     Other Equity Reserves 

 Note Capital Stock 
Additional  

Paid-in Capital Deficit 

Equity Reserve 
on Acquisition of 
Non-controlling 

Interest 

Cumulative Gain 
(Loss) on 

Translation of 
Investments in 

Associates 

Cumulative 
Unrealized Gain 

(Loss) on 
Changes in 

Fair Value of 
Financial Assets 

at FVOCI 

Cumulative 
Translation Gain 

(Loss) on 
Consolidation of 

a Foreign 
Operation 

Cumulative 
Remeasurement 

Gain (Loss) on 
Net Retirement 
Benefit Liability Treasury Stock 

Equity 
Attributable to 
Equity Holders 

of the Parent 
Company 

Equity 
Attributable to 

Non-Controlling 
Interests Total Equity 

Balances as at December 31, 2024   3,667,160,766   370,064,055   15,109,658   (53,945,929)  993,993   12,107,970   392,169   (5,045,126)  (3,240,000)  4,003,597,556   3,322,594,951   7,326,192,507  

Net income    
 

294,104,428       
 279,206,122   (3,831,466)  275,374,656  

Other Comprehensive Income         728,586   11,650,213   442,236    12,821,035   271,315,481   284,136,516  

Balances as at March 31, 2025   3,662,160,766   370,064,055   (278,994,770)  (53,945,929)  993,993   12,836,556   12,042,382   (4,602,890)  (3,240,000)  3,717,314,163   3,590,078,966   7,307,393,129  

              

Balances as at December 31, 2023  
 

 3,667,160,766  
 

 370,064,055  
  

4,792,258  
  

(53,945,929) 
  

40,677  
 

 9,091,657  
 

 497,560  
 

 (4,234,561) 
 

 (3,240,000) 
 

 3,990,226,483  
 

 3,537,939,908  
  

7,528,166,391  

Net income    
 

(53,780,668)       
 

(53,780,668) 65,355,878 11,575,210 
              
              
              

Balances as at March 31, 2024  3,667,160,766 370,064,055 (48,686,410) (53,945,929) 40,677 0,091,657 497,560 (4,234,561) (3,240,000) 3,936,565,815 3,603,295,786 7,539,861,601 

              

              



  

BASIC ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2025 AND 2024 

 

 2025 2024 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Income (loss) before income tax 207,496,354 38,831,589 
Adjustments for:   
 Depreciation and amortization 159,254,475 77,552,070 
 Share in net loss (income) of associates and a joint venture 48,158,787 8,901,534 
 Interest income (2,203,781) (3,239,481) 
 Unrealized foreign exchange gain 104,479 4,435,195 

Gain on disposal of investments in associates 3,965,641 – 
Finance Cost 228,757,194 – 
Retirement Expense (4,800,000)  

Operating income (loss) before working capital changes  640,614,553 126,480,907 
Decrease (Increase) in:   
 Trade and other receivables  (228,381,421) (1,368,561,034) 
 Inventories  (536,499,239) (919,594,560) 
 Receivables from sale of non-current assets held for sale – – 
 Other current assets  (447,222,704) 10,302,168 
 Other noncurrent assets  (395,147,584) (15,615,684) 
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables (111,958,119) (6,258,508,519) 

Net cash generated from (used for) operations (1,073,594,513) (8,425,496,722) 
Income taxes paid – – 
Interest received 157,876,954 – 
Contributions to retirement plan 4,800,000 – 

Net cash provided by operating activities (910,917,559) (8,425,496,722) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
 

Collection of notes receivable – – 
(Additions)/Deductions to:   

Investment properties _ (100,521,633) 
Property and equipment (24,499,091) – 
Advances to Related Parties (74,937,506) – 

Proceeds from sale of:   
Long term placement 15,300,000 2,922,726 
Investment property – – 
Investment in associates – – 

Unrealized gain(loss) on fair value adjustments – – 

Net cash provided by investing activities (84,136,597) (97,598,907) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
 

Proceeds from availment of loans 112,144,744 9,069,454,844 
Payments of:   
 Trust receipts payable – – 
 Interest – (5,202,924) 
 Lease liabilities – – 
        Loans payable – (451,909,360) 
Additional advances – – 
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock – – 

Net cash provided by financing activities 112,144,744 8,612,342,560 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (882,909,412) 89,246,931 

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 

37,028,001 (31,178) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 1,664,685,320 1,836,923,389 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 818,803,914 1,926,139,142 



 
BASIC ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

AGING OF TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
AS AT MARCH 31, 2025 

 
 Total Current 1- 30 Days 31- 60 Days 61-90 Days 91-365 Days Over 365 Days 
Trade  16,724,962,510.81   13,023,700,487.01   3,297,139,363.80   164,856,968.19     239,265,691.81  
Nontrade  1,075,153,020.00        1,075,153,020.00  
Others  948,910,829.00   948,658,675.00       252,154.00  

  18,749,026,360.00   13,972,359,162.01   3,297,139,363.80   164,856,968.19   -     -     1,314,670,865.81  

        

 
 
 
 
 

BASIC ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

AGING OF TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
AS AT MARCH 31, 2025 

 
 Total Current 1- 30 Days 31- 60 Days 61-90 Days 91-365 Days Over 365 Days 

Trade  3,603,111,078.00   3,563,022,415.06       40,088,663.00  

Nontrade  4,726,521,600.00   603,687,154.33       4,122,834,446.00  

Others  369,827,202.00    95,518,488.00      274,308,714.00  

  8,699,459,880.00   4,166,709,569.39   95,518,488.00   -     -     -     4,437,231,823.00  

        

 
  



 

 

BASIC ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS AT AND FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2025 

 

1. General Information 

Corporate Information 
Basic Energy Corporation (the Parent Company or BEC) was incorporated under the laws of the 
Republic of the Philippines and registered in the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
on September 19, 1968. 

On September 30, 2021, Map 2000 Development Corporation (M2DC or the Ultimate Parent 
Company) acquired 67% ownership of the Parent Company.  M2DC is registered with the Philippine 
SEC and is engaged in the business of real estate acquisition, development, and management. 
Effectively, the Parent Company became a subsidiary of M2DC.  

The Parent Company is a holding company with diversified business interests in various fields of 
renewable energy and alternative fuels, wholesale and distribution of petroleum products, and in oil 
and gas exploration and development. 

The Parent Company shares are listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) under the trading symbol 
“BSC”. 

The registered business address of the Parent Company is GM Building, Florida St., Wack Wack 
Greenhills East, Mandaluyong City. 

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to herein as “the Group”.  The details 
of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

 

   Percentage of Ownership (%) 

   2023  2022 

 Nature of Business Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 

Basic Diversified Industrial Holdings, Inc. 
(BDIHI) Holding Company 100.00 – 100.00 – 

Basic Biofuels Corporation (BBC) Development of Biofuels 100.00 – 100.00 – 

Basic Renewables, Inc. (BRI) 
Development of Renewable Energy 

Resources 100.00 – 100.00 – 

iBasic, Inc. (iBasic) 
Development and Maintenance of 

Computer Software 100.00 – 100.00 – 
Grandway Group Limited (GGL)* Holding Company 100.00 – 100.00 – 
Mabini Energy Corporation (MEC)  

(Formerly Basic Geothermal Energy 
Corporation) 

Development of Renewable Energy 
Resources 100.00 – – – 

Basic Energy Renewable Corporation 
(BERC) Development of EV Charging Stations 100.00 – – – 
Basic Renewable Energy Solutions 

Corporation (BRESC) 
Development of Renewable Energy 

Resources 100.00 – – – 
San Joaquin Wind Energy Corporation 
(SJWEC) Development of Wind Energy Resources 100.00 – – – 
Starfish Wind Energy Corporation (SWEC) Development of Wind Energy Resources 100.00 – – – 
Pasuquin Wind Energy Corporation (PWEC) Development of Wind Energy Resources 100.00 – – – 
PT Basic Energy Solusi (PT BES)* Oil Exploration – 95.00 – 95.00 
Southwest Resources, Inc. (SRI) Oil Exploration 72.58 – 72.58 – 
Filoil Energy Company, Inc. (FECI) Holding Company 60.00 – – – 
La Defense Filipinas Holdings Corporation 

(LDFHC)** Hold and Invest in Real Properties – 36.00 – – 
Filipinas Third Millenium Realty Corporation 

(FTMRC)*** Fuel Terminalling and Storage Services – 36.00 – – 
Map 2000 Terminals, Inc. (M2TI)*** Fuel Terminalling and Storage Services – 36.00 – – 

Filoil Logisitics Corporation (FLC)** 
Wholesale and Distribution of Petroleum 

Products – 30.60 – – 
Peninsula Land Bay Realty Corp. (PLBRC)*** Management Services – 18.00 – – 

 
 
 



 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued by the Philippine Financial and Sustainability Reporting 
Standards Council (formerly Financial Reporting Standards Council) and adopted by the SEC, including 
SEC pronouncements.  This financial reporting framework includes PFRS, Philippine Accounting 
Standards (PAS) and Philippine interpretations from International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC). 

Measurement Bases 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, the Parent Company’s 
functional currency. The Parent Company and its subsidiaries determine their own functional 
currencies, which best reflect the economic substance of the underlying transactions, events and 
conditions relevant to each entity. All values are rounded off to the nearest Peso, unless otherwise 
indicated. 

At each reporting date, the assets and liabilities of GGL and PT BES are translated from their functional 
currencies (US Dollar and Indonesian Rupiah, respectively) to the Parent Company’s functional and 
presentation currency (Philippine Peso) using the closing rate at each reporting date, while its 
comprehensive income is translated using weighted average exchange rates during the year. 

The exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign operation are recognized in other 
comprehensive income (OCI).  

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except for the following:  

 Measurement Bases 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

Fair Value 

Investment properties Fair Value 
Derivative financial instruments Fair Value 
Net retirement asset (liability) Present value of defined benefit obligation 

less the fair value of the plan asset 
Lease liabilities Present value of future lease payments 

 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for an asset 
and fair value of the consideration received in exchange for incurring a liability.   
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 
 

• in the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 



 

 

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses market observable data to the extent possible when measuring the fair value of an 
asset or a liability.  Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on 
inputs used in the following valuation techniques: 

• Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active market for identical assets or liabilities;  

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; or 

• Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable. 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the 
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire 
measurement. 

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting 
period during which the change has occurred. 

Adoption of Amendments to PFRS Accounting Standards 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year. There are no 
amendments to PFRS Accounting Standards which are effective as at January 1, 2024 that will have 
an impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements. 

New Amendments to PFRS Accounting Standards in Issue But Not Yet Effective 

Relevant new and amendments to PFRS Accounting Standards, which are not yet effective as at 
December 31, 2024 and have not been applied in preparing the consolidated  financial statements, 
are summarized below. 

Effective January 1, 2025 

• Amendments   to   PAS   21,  The  Effects   of  Changes  in  Foreign   Exchange   Rates   -  Lack   
of Exchangeability - The amendments  clarify when  a  currency  is  considered exchangeable 
into another currency  and  how an entity  determines the  exchange rate for  currencies that  
lack exchangeability. The amendments also introduce new disclosure requirements to help 
users of financial statements assess the impact when a currency is not exchangeable. An 
entity does not apply  the  amendments  retrospectively.  Instead,  an entity  recognizes  any 
effect  of  initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained earnings when the entity reports foreign currency transactions. When an entity uses  
a  presentation currency other than its functional currency, it recognizes the cumulative 
amount of translation differences in equity. Earlier application is permitted. 

Effective January 1, 2026 

• Amendments to PFRS 9,  Financial Instruments,  and PFRS  7, Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures - Classification  and Measurement of Financial Assets - The amendments  clarify 
that  a  financial liability  is  derecognized  when  the  related  obligation  is  discharged or  
cancelled,  expires  or otherwise qualifies for derecognition (e.g. settlement date), and 
introduces a  policy option to derecognize financial liabilities settled through an electronic 



 

 

payment system before settlement date  if the  required  conditions  are  met.  The 
amendments  also clarify  the  assessment  of contractual cash flow characteristics of financial 
assets, the treatment of non-recourse loans and contractually  linked  instruments,  as  well  
as require  additional  disclosure  requirements  for financial assets and liabilities with 
contingent features and equity instruments classified at FVOCI. Earlier application is 
permitted. 

• Annual Improvements to PFRS Accounting Standards Volume 11: 

o Amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments:  Disclosures - The amendments update  
and remove some obsolete references related to the gain or loss on derecognition on 
financial assets of an entity that has a continuing involvement and to the disclosure 
requirements on deferred differences between fair value and transaction  price. The 
amendments also clarify that the illustrative guidance does not necessarily illustrate all 
the requirements for credit risk disclosure. Earlier application is permitted.  

o Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments - Transaction Price and Lessee 
Derecognition of Lease Liabilities - The amendments clarify that when a  lessee has 
determined that a  lease liability  has been extinguished   in  accordance  with   PFRS   9,  
the   lessee   must  apply  the derecognition  criteria  for a  financial liability which requires 
recognition  of a  gain or loss in profit or loss. The amendments also replace the reference 
to  'transaction price as defined by PFRS 15,  Revenue from Contracts with Customers' to 
'the amount determined by applying PFRS 15' to remove potential confusion. Earlier 
application is permitted. 

o Amendments   to  PFRS   Accounting   Standards   10,   Consolidated  Financial  Statements  
• Determination of a 'de facto agent' - The amendments remove inconsistencies by 
clarifying that an entity must use judgment to determine whether other parties are acting 
as de facto agents. Earlier application is permitted.  

Effective January 1, 2027 • 

• PFRS 18,  Presentation  and Disclosure  in Financial Statements - This standard  replaces PAS  
1, Presentation  of Financial Statements,  and  sets  out the  requirements  for the  
presentation  and disclosure of information to help ensure that the financial statements 
provide relevant information that faithfully represents the entity's assets, liabilities, equity, 
income and expenses. The standard  introduces new categories and sub-totals  in the 
statements of comprehensive income,  disclosures  on  management-defined  performance  
measures,  and new principles for grouping of information,  which the  entity  needs to apply 
retrospectively.  Earlier  application  is permitted. 

Deferred effectivity  

• Amendments to PFRS Accounting Standards 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 
28, Investment in Associates - Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint  Venture - The amendments  address  a  conflicting  provision under the  
two  standards.  It clarifies that a gain or loss shall  be recognized fully when the transaction 
involves a business,  and partially  if  it  involves assets  that  do  not  constitute  a   business.  
The effective  date  of the amendments, initially set for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2016, was deferred indefinitely in December 2015 but earlier application is still 
permitted. 

 



 

 

Under prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing relevant new and amendments to 
PFRS Accounting Standards is not expected to  have any material effect on the consolidated 
financial statements  of the  Group.  Additional  disclosures  will  be  included  in  the  consolidated  
financial statements, as applicable. 

Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and 
its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Parent Company.  Control is achieved when the Parent 
Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Parent 
Company controls an investee if and only if the Parent Company has: 

• power over investee; 

• exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

• the ability to use its power over the investee affect its returns. 
 
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control.  To support this 
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including: 
 

• The contractual arrangements with the other vote holders of the investee; 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 
 
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition or incorporation, being the date on which 
the Parent Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date such control 
ceases. 
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same reporting period of the 
Parent Company.  Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies 
for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances.  Intercompany balances and 
transactions, including intercompany profits and unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated in full. 
 

  



 

 

A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a change of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction.  Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary.  
Any surplus or deficit arising from the loss of control is recognized in profit or loss.  If the Group retains 
interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date control is 
lost.  Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as financial assets at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) depending on the level of influence retained. 
 
Non-controlling Interests 
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Parent 
Company and are presented separately in the Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income and within equity in the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position, separate from 
equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company, respectively. 
 
Non-controlling interests (NCI) represent the following as at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024: 
 

 Type of Interest 

% of Interest 

2023 2022 

FECI Direct 40.00 40.00 
SRI Direct 27.42 27.42 
PT BES Indirect 5.00 5.00 
LDFHC Indirect 64.00 64.00 
FTMRC Indirect 64.00 64.00 
M2TI Indirect 64.00 64.00 
PLBRC Indirect 70.00 70.00 
FLC Indirect 69.40 69.40 

Business Combination and Goodwill 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value 
and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination,  
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Transaction 
costs are expensed as incurred and included in general and administrative expenses.  

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets 
include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create 
outputs. The acquired process is considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue 
producing outputs, and the inputs acquired include an organized workforce with the necessary skills, 
knowledge or experience to perform that process or it significantly contributes to the ability to 
continue producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without 
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.  

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and financial liabilities assumed 
for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,  
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the 
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree, if any.  

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured 
at its acquisition date at fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income.  

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group will be recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability 
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, is measured at 



 

 

fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income in accordance with PFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of 
PFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each financial reporting date with changes in fair value recognized 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  

If the initial measurement of the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired in a business 
combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the business combination 
occurs, the Group recognizes in its consolidated financial statements provisional amounts for the 
items for which the measurement is incomplete. During the measurement period, the Group 
retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new 
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and,  
if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date.  
During the measurement period, the Group recognizes additional assets or liabilities if new 
information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if 
known, would have resulted in the recognition of those assets and liabilities as of that date.  
The measurement period ends as soon as the Group receives the information it was seeking about 
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date or learns that more information is not 
obtainable. However, the measurement period shall not exceed one year from the acquisition date. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred, the amount recognized for non-controlling interest and any previous interest held over 
the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired 
is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly 
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used 
to measure the amounts recognized at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an 
excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the 
gain is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating unit (CGU) or group of CGUs that 
are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 
acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, 
the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this 
circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of 
the CGU retained. 

Classification of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity 
A financial instrument is classified as a liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to: 
 

• Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;  

• Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially unfavorable to the Group; or 
 

• Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 

If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset 
to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability. 
 
 



 

 

Classification of Assets and Liabilities between Current and Noncurrent  
The Group presents current and noncurrent assets, and current and noncurrent liabilities, as separate 
classifications in the notes to consolidated financial statements.  
 
Current Assets. The Group classifies an asset as current when:  
 

• It expects to realize the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal operating cycle;    

• It holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading;   

• It expects to realize the asset within 12 months after the reporting period; or    

• The asset is cash or a cash equivalent unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or used 
to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.    

 
Otherwise, the Group will classify all other assets as noncurrent.      
 
Current Liabilities. The Group classifies a liability as current when:    
 

• It expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle; 

• It holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading;    

• The liability is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or    

• It does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty,  
result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.    

Otherwise, the Group will classify all other liabilities as noncurrent. 

Financial Instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity or a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.  

Date of Recognition.  The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the statement of 
financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument.  
In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition,  
as applicable, is done using trade date accounting. 

“Day 1” Difference.  Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value 
of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation 
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the 
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss. In cases 
where there are no observable data on inception, the Group deems the transaction price as the best 
estimate of fair value and recognizes “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the inputs become 
observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Group determines the 
appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference. 

Financial Assets 

Initial Recognition and Measurement.  Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, 
which is the fair value of the consideration given.  The initial measurement of financial assets, except 
for those designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost. 

Classification.  The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition under the following 
categories: (a) financial assets at FVPL, (b) financial assets at amortized cost and (c) financial assets at 
FVOCI. The classification of a financial asset largely depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and its contractual cash flow characteristics. 



 

 

Financial Assets at FVPL.  Financial assets at FVPL are either classified as held for trading or designated 
at FVPL.  A financial instrument is classified as held for trading if it meets either of the following 
conditions: 

• it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;  

• on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed 
together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or  

• it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effective hedging instrument). 

The Group may, at initial recognition, designate a financial asset meeting the criteria to be classified 
at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as a financial asset at FVPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 
accounting mismatch that would arise from measuring these assets. 

After initial recognition, financial assets at FVPL are subsequently measured at fair value.   
Unrealized gains or losses arising from the fair valuation of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in 
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 

As at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Group classified its derivative financial 
instrument under this category. 

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost. Financial assets shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the 
following conditions are met: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and  

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment, if any. Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the financial 
assets are derecognized and through amortization process. 

As at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, refundable deposits, and long-term placements are included in this category. 

Financial Assets at FVOCI – Debt Instruments. For debt instruments that meet the contractual cash 
flow characteristic and are not designated at FVPL under the fair value option, the financial assets are 
measured at FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial recognition, interest income (calculated using the effective interest rate method) and 
impairment gains or losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI are recognized directly in profit 
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognized 
in OCI are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 



 

 

As at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Group’s investments in quoted debt securities are 
classified under this category. 

Financial Assets at FVOCI – Equity Instruments.  For equity instruments that are not held for trading, 
the Group may irrevocably designate, at initial recognition, a financial asset to be measured at FVOCI 
when it meets the definition of equity instrument under PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation.  
This option is available and made on an instrument by instrument basis.  

Dividends from equity instruments held at FVOCI are recognized in profit or loss when the right to 
receive payment is established, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost 
of the investment.   

All other gains or losses from equity instruments are recognized in OCI and are presented in the equity 
section of the consolidated statement of financial position and are not reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods, but instead, these are transferred directly to retained earnings.  

As at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Group has quoted investments in equity securities 
which were irrevocably designated as financial assets at FVOCI. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange forward contracts to 
manage its exposure to foreign currency risks. Such derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value 
is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gain or loss arising from 
changes in fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting is recognized in profit or 
loss. 

Reclassification 
The Group reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it changes its business model for 
managing those financial assets.  The reclassification is applied prospectively from the first day of the 
first reporting period following the change in the business model (reclassification date). 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVPL category to financial assets at 
amortized cost, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount. 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVPL category to financial assets at FVOCI, 
its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount.  Meanwhile, for a 
financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at FVPL, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment at the reclassification date. 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial 
assets at FVPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference between the previous amortized cost of 
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss. 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial 
assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of the 
financial asset and fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income. 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets 
at amortized cost, any gain or loss previously recognized in OCI, and any difference between 
the new amortized cost and maturity amount, are amortized to profit or loss over the remaining life 
of the investment using the effective interest method. If the financial asset is subsequently impaired, 
any gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 



 

 

In the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or loss shall be recognized 
in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold or disposed. If the financial asset is subsequently 
impaired, any previous gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit 
or loss. 

For equity instruments which were irrevocably designated at initial recognition as financial assets at 
FVOCI, no reclassification in another category is allowed. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at 
FVPL, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss as a reclassification adjustment at the reclassification date. 

Impairment of Debt Instruments at FVOCI and Financial Assets at Amortized Cost.  The Group 
recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) for all debt instruments not held at FVPL.  
ECL is based on the difference between the cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation to the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held 
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 

 
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach and has calculated ECL based on 
lifetime ECL. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to its customers and the economic 
environment.  
 
For other financial assets measured at amortized cost and FVOCI, the ECL is based on the 12-month 
ECL, which pertains to the portion of lifetime ECL that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.  However, when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the allowance will be based on the 
lifetime ECL.  When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of 
initial recognition.  The Group also considers reasonable and supportable information that is available 
without undue cost or effort and is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial 
recognition. 

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 30 days past due 
unless it is demonstrated that the non-payment was an administrative oversight rather than resulting 
from financial difficulty of the counterparty.  However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider 
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is 
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements held by the Group.  A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is 
generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or source of 
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amount of financial asset for write-off. 
This assessment is carried out at the individual financial asset level. 
 
Derecognition.  A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognized when:  

• The right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;  

• The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the financial asset, but has assumed an 
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; or 



 

 

• The Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the financial asset and either  
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from a financial asset or has entered 
into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset nor transferred control of the financial asset,  
the financial asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the financial 
asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred financial asset 
is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the financial asset and the maximum 
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

 
Financial Liabilities 

Initial Recognition and Measurement.  Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, which 
is the fair value of the consideration received.  In case of financial liabilities at amortized cost,  
the initial measurement is net of any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Classification.  The Group classifies its financial liabilities at initial recognition as either financial 
liabilities at FVPL or financial liabilities at amortized cost. 

As at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Group does not have financial liabilities at FVPL. 

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost.  Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at 
amortized cost when the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an 
obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the obligation 
other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of 
its own equity instruments. 

 
After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on the issue, and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Gains and losses 
are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized or through the amortization 
process.  

As at March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Group’s trade and other payables (excluding 
nonfinancial liabilities and derivative liability), trust receipts payable, loans payable, trusts receipts 
payable and lease liabilities are classified under this category. 

Derecognition.  A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or has expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position only if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognized amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the 
related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 



 

 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost includes all costs of 
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, 
and it is calculated using the moving average method. 

The NRV of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated cost necessary to make the sale.  In determining the NRV, the Group considers any 
adjustment necessary for obsolescence. 

When the NRV of the inventories is lower than their cost, the inventories are written-down to its NRV 
and the difference between the cost and NRV of the inventories is charged in profit or loss. 
 
Noncurrent Asset Held for Sale 
The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 
Noncurrent assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly 
attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal group), excluding finance costs and income tax 
expense. 

 
The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, 
and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Actions required to complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the 
sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn.  Management must be committed to 
the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to be completed within one (1) year from the date of 
classification. 

If the one-year period is not complied, the Group can still classify its noncurrent asset as held for sale 
when: 

• There are non-buyer conditions which extend the period required to complete the sale and 
the conditions can only be complied after a firm purchase commitment is obtained. The firm 
purchase commitment should be highly probable within one year 

• There are buyer or non-buyer conditions that will extend the period required to complete the 
sale after the Group obtains a firm purchase agreement, and the Group already responded to 
the conditions expecting favorable resolution. 

• During the one-year period, the noncurrent asset held for sale was not sold due to the 
occurrence of unlikely circumstances and the Group responded to the change in 
circumstances within the same period. Also, the noncurrent asset should be actively marketed 
at a reasonable price given the change in circumstances. 

The Group recognizes an impairment loss for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset  
(or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell, to the extent that it has not been recognized in the 
carrying amount of the noncurrent asset before initial classification as held for sale.  The Group 
recognizes a gain for any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset, but not in 
excess of the cumulative impairment loss that has been recognized. 

 
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the 
consolidated statements of financial position. 

 

 



 

 

Property and Equipment 
The following property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization 
and any accumulated impairment losses: 

• Depot tanks 

• Building and improvements 

• Transportation equipment 

• Furniture, fixtures, and office equipment 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price after deducting trade 
discounts and rebates, import duties, nonrefundable purchase taxes, and any other costs directly 
attributable in bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.   
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor, any other costs directly 
attributable in bringing the assets to the working condition for their intended use, and costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. 

Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operation, such as 
repairs, maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally recognized in profit or loss in the year the costs 
are incurred.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted 
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of 
property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures 
are capitalized as additional costs of property and equipment.  The cost of replacing a component of 
an item of property and equipment is recognized if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably.  The 
carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognized.  

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, these are accounted for 
as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment begin when it is in the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the management. 
Depreciation and amortization are calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated 
useful lives of the property and equipment: 
 

 Number of Years 

Depot tanks 15 
Building and building improvements 15 
Transportation equipment 5 
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 

The estimated useful lives, depreciation and amortization method are reviewed at each reporting date 
to ensure that these are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of 
property and equipment. 

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use. 
 
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation, 
amortization and any impairment in value are removed from the accounts. Any resulting gain or loss 
is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Construction in progress represents properties under construction and is stated at cost, including 
costs of construction and other direct costs.  Construction in progress is not depreciated until such 
time that the relevant assets are completed and ready for operational use. 

 



 

 

Investments in Associates and a Joint Venture 
These consist of investments in a joint arrangement classified as a joint venture and associates that 
are accounted for at equity method. 
 
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.  Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control 
or joint control over those policies. 
 
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.  Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of 
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.  The considerations made in determining joint 
control are similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries. 
 
The Group’s Investments in Associates and a Joint Venture are accounted for under the equity 
method.  The investments are initially recognized at cost and adjusted to recognize the Group’s share 
in the changes in the net assets of the associates since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the 
joint venture or associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for 
impairment separately. Dividends received by the Group from the associates and joint venture will 
reduce the carrying amount of the investments when the right to receive the dividend is established. 
Dividends received from associates and joint venture whose carrying values have been reduced to 
zero are recognized as income in the consolidated statement of income.  The Group recognizes its 
share in net income or loss of the associates in profit or loss.  Any change in OCI of the associates is 
presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, where there has been a change recognized directly 
in equity of the associate, the Group recognizes its share in these changes, when applicable, in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions 
between the Group and the Joint Venture or associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the joint venture or associate. 
 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an 
impairment loss on its investment in the joint venture or associate. At each financial reporting date, 
the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the joint venture or 
associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable amount of the joint venture or associate and its carrying value, 
then recognizes the loss within share in earnings from investments in associates and joint ventures in 
the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognizes any retained 
investment at fair value.  Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of 
significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 
recognized in profit or loss. 

The financial statements of the associates are prepared in the same reporting period and using the 
uniform accounting policies used by the Group. 

Investment Properties  
Investment properties pertain to land, buildings and improvements, and depot tanks held either to 
earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of 
business or for administrative purposes. 
 
Investment properties are initially measured at cost which pertains to the purchase price and any 
directly attributable costs related to the acquisition.  Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date.  Gains or 



 

 

losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are recognized in profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise. Fair values are determined using market data approach by an 
accredited external independent real estate appraiser. 

An investment property is derecognized either when the asset has been disposed of or when the 
investment property has been permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property 
are recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. In determining the amount of 
consideration from the derecognition of investment property the Group considers the effects of 
variable consideration, existence of a significant financing component, non-cash consideration, and 
consideration payable to the buyer, if any. 

 
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use, evidenced by 
the ending of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of 
the construction or development. For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied 
property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If 
owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in 
accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in 
use. 
 
Deferred Exploration and Evaluation Costs 
Deferred exploration and evaluation costs arising from the Group’s exploration and evaluation 
activities are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

Exploration and evaluation activities involve the search for oil, gas or other natural resources,  
the determination of technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified 
resource.  These include the following: 

• Acquisitions of rights to explore; 

• Gathering exploration data through geophysical studies; 

• Determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource; 

• Surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements; and 

• Evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the resource. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized as assets when the future economic benefit 
is more likely than not to be realized. These costs include directly attributable employee 
remuneration, materials and fuels used, surveying costs, drilling costs and payments made to 
contractors. The Group capitalizes any further costs incurred for exploration and evaluation activities 
up to the point when a commercial reserve is established. 

Deferred exploration and evaluation costs are assessed for impairment before these are reclassified 
to “Property and equipment” account in the consolidated statement of financial position when the 
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the resources are demonstrable.   
Any impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.  If the exploration area is found to contain no 
commercial reserves, the deferred exploration and evaluation costs are charged to profit or loss. 
 
Intangible Asset 
Intangible asset pertains to exploration rights.  This is stated at cost, which includes purchase price 
and other direct costs, less accumulated amortization and any impairment in value.  Intangible asset 
is amortized over their useful lives on a straight-line basis and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  The amortization period and method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least annually.  Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
intangible asset with finite useful lives are recognized in profit or loss. 



 

 

The useful life of an intangible asset arising from contractual or other legal rights should not exceed 
the period of those rights, but may be shorter depending on the period over which the intangible 
asset is expected to be used by the Group.  Intangible asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over 
two (2) years. 

When intangible asset is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated 
amortization and any impairment in value are removed from the accounts.  Any resulting gain or loss 
is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Other Nonfinancial Assets 
Other nonfinancial assets pertain to excess tax credits, prepayments, input value-added tax (VAT), 
and deferred input VAT. 

Excess Tax Credits.  Excess tax credits pertain to the Group’s excess income tax payments.  
These include taxes withheld and remitted to the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) by customers 
which can be applied to the Group’s income tax payable in the same year the related income was 
recognized. Excess tax credits are carried forward and can be utilized in succeeding years. These are 
measured at face amount, less any impairment in value. 
 
Prepayments. Prepayments are expenses paid in advance and recorded as assets before these are 
utilized.  Prepayments are apportioned over the period covered by the payment and included in profit 
or loss when incurred.  Prepayments that are expected to be utilized within 12 months after the 
reporting date are classified as current assets.  Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets. 

VAT. VAT is a tax on consumption levied on the sale, barter, exchange, or lease of goods or properties 
and services, and on importation of goods in the Philippines.  It is an indirect tax,  
which may be shifted or passed on to the buyer, transferee or lessee of goods, properties or services. 

Revenue, expenses, and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except: 

• When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable; and 

• Receivables and payables that include the amount of VAT. 

The net amount of VAT recoverable from the taxation authority is presented as “Input VAT” under 
“Other noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
Deferred Input VAT. In accordance with Revenue Regulations (RR) No. 16-2005, input VAT on 
purchases or imports of capital goods (depreciable assets for income tax purposes) with an aggregate 
acquisition cost (exclusive of VAT) in each of the calendar month exceeding P=1.0 million is claimed as 
credit against output VAT over 60 months or the estimated useful lives of capital goods, whichever is 
shorter. 
 
Deferred input VAT represents the unamortized amount of input VAT on capital goods and input VAT 
on the unpaid portion of availed services, including the use or lease of properties. 

 
Where the aggregate acquisition cost (exclusive of VAT) of the existing or finished depreciable capital 
goods purchased or imported during any calendar month does not exceed P=1.0 million,  
the total input VAT will be allowable as credit against output VAT in the month of acquisition. 

 
Based on Revenue Memorandum Circular (RMC) 21-2022, effective January 1, 2022, all input tax on 
purchases of capital goods shall no longer be deferred, but allowed to be claimed upon purchase or 
payment. Remaining unutilized input VAT shall be allowed to be amortized as scheduled until fully 



 

 

utilized. 

Deferred input VAT that are expected to be claimed against output VAT within 12 months after the 
reporting date are classified as current assets.  Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The carrying amounts of nonfinancial assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.  If such indication exists 
and when the carrying amounts exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets or  
cash- generating units (CGU) are written down to their recoverable amounts.  The recoverable amount 
of the asset is the greater of the fair value less cost of disposal or value in use.  The fair value less cost 
of disposal is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s-length transaction less cost 
of disposal.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate largely independent 
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.  
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.  

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognized.  In such instance, the carrying amount of the asset is increased 
to its recoverable amount.  However, that increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss.  After such reversal, 
the depreciation and amortization charges are adjusted prospectively to allocate the asset’s revised 
carrying amount on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
 
Equity 
 
Capital Stock.  Common stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and subscribed.   
Unpaid subscriptions are recognized as reduction to subscribed capital stock. 

Additional Paid-in Capital (APIC). APIC represents the proceeds and/or fair value of consideration 
received in excess of the par value of the shares issued.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of new common stock are recognized as a deduction from APIC, net of any tax effects. 

Deficit.  Deficit represents the cumulative balance of the Group’s profit or loss.  

Treasury Stock. Treasury stock represents the Parent Company’s shares held by its subsidiary, which 
are carried at cost and deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled or sold.   

When the shares are subsequently sold, the difference between the cost and consideration received, 
net of any directly attributable transaction costs, is included in equity attributable to the equity 
holders of the Parent Company.  

Other Equity Reserves.  Other equity reserves consist of cumulative balances of items of income and 
expense that are not recognized in profit or loss in accordance with PFRS.  Other equity reserves of 
the Group pertain to equity reserve on acquisition of NCI, cumulative gain (loss) on translation of 
Investments in Associates, cumulative unrealized gain changes in fair value of financial assets at 
FVOCI, cumulative translation loss on consolidation of a foreign operations, and cumulative 
remeasurement gain (loss) on net retirement benefit liability. 

 



 

 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue from contract with customers is recognized when the performance obligation in the contract 
has been satisfied, either at a point in time or over time.  Revenue is recognized over time if one of 
the following criteria is met: (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as 
the Group performs its obligations; (b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that 
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or (c) the Group’s performance does not 
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to 
payment for performance completed to date.  Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in time. 

The Group also assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as a principal or as an 
agent.  The Group has assessed that it acts as a principal in its revenue arrangements. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized. 
 
Sale of Fuel. Sales revenue is recognized at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred 
to the customer upon delivery. The normal credit term is 15 to 240 days. 
 
Port Service Income. Port service income pertaining to port services is recognized over the period that 
the related service is provided. 

Other Income. Income from other sources is recognized as revenue when earned. 

The following are the specific recognition criteria for other revenues outside the scope of PFRS 15, 
Revenues: 

Rental Income.  Revenue on rental under non-cancellable and cancellable leases are recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Interest Income.  Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues taking into account the effective 
yield on the asset, net of final tax. 

Dividend Income.  Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established. 
 
Expense Recognition 
Expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefit related to a 
decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales includes the purchase price of the products sold as well as costs that are 
directly attributable in bringing the inventory to its intended condition and location. Costs of sales is 
recognized when the related goods are delivered to the customers.   

Cost of Services. Cost of services are recognized as expense when the related services are rendered. 

General and Administrative Expenses.  General and administrative expenses constitute costs of 
administering the business. These are expensed when incurred. 
 
Finance Costs. Finance costs are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Leases 
The Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains a lease at the commencement date.   
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time, the Group assesses whether, throughout the period of use, it has both of the following: 

 
i. The right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset; and 
ii. The right to direct the use of the identified asset. 

If the Group has the right to control the use of an identified asset for only a portion of the term of the 
contract, the contract contains a lease for that portion of the term.  The Group also assesses whether 

a contract contains a lease for each potential separate lease component. 
Group as Lessor.  Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as operating leases.  Rental income is recognized in profit or loss when earned upon the 
fulfilment of the variable considerations which are mutually agreed by the parties in the arrangement. 

Group as a Lessee. At the commencement date, the Group recognizes right of use (ROU) asset and 
lease liability for all leases, except for leases with lease terms of 12 months or less (short-term leases) 
and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value in which case the lease payments associated 
with those leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis. 
 
The Group elected to apply the recognition exemption on short-term leases.  The related lease 
expenses on these lease agreements are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis. 

ROU Asset. At commencement date of the lease contracts, the Group measures ROU asset  
at cost.  The initial measurement of ROU asset includes the following: 

 

• The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 

• Lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;  

• Initial direct costs; and 

• An estimation of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying 
asset, when applicable. 

 
After the commencement date, the ROU asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortization 
and any accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the related lease 
liabilities. 

ROU asset is presented under Property and equipment. Amortization is computed using the  
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 25 years.  

Lease Liabilities.  At commencement date, the Group measures lease liabilities at the present value of 
future lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily 
determined.  Otherwise, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate (IBR). 

Lease payments included in the measurement of lease liabilities comprise the following: 
 

• Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate as at the commencement date;  

• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; and 

• The exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 
payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonable certain not 
to terminate early. 



 

 

 
Lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost.  Interest on the lease liabilities and any 
variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities are recognized in profit 
or loss unless these are capitalized as costs of another asset.  Variable lease payments not included in 
the measurement of the lease liabilities are recognized in profit or loss when the event or condition 
that triggers those payments occurs. 

If there is a change in the lease term or if there is a change in the assessment of an option to purchase 
the underlying asset, the lease liabilities are remeasured using a revised discount rate considering the 
revised lease payments on the basis of the revised lease term or reflecting the change in amounts 
payable under the purchase option.  The lease liabilities are also remeasured using the revised lease 
payments if there is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee 
or a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate used to determine 
those payments. 
 
Employee Benefits 

Short-term Benefits.  The Group recognizes short-term employee benefits based on contractual 
arrangements with employees.  The unpaid portion of the short-term employee benefits is measured 
on an undiscounted basis and is included as part of “Trade and other payables” account in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

Retirement Benefit.  Retirement benefit costs are actuarially determined using the projected unit 
credit method.  This method reflects services rendered by employees up to the date of valuation and 
incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.  The calculation of net 
retirement benefits costs is performed annually by a qualified actuary.  When the calculation results 
in a potential asset for the Group, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic 
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in the future 
contributions to the plan.  To calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given 
to any applicable minimum funding requirements.  

The net retirement benefit liability recognized by the Group is the aggregate of the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation reduced by the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are 
to be settled directly.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows using risk-free interest rates of government bonds that have terms 
to maturity approximating the terms of the related net retirement benefit liability.   

Plan assets are assets that are held in trust and managed by a trustee bank. Plan assets are not 
available to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the Group. The fair value of 
the plan assets is based on the market price information. When no market price is available, the fair 
value of plan assets is estimated by discounting the estimated future cash flows using discount rates 
that reflect both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date 
of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of the related 
obligations). If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present value of the retirement 
benefit liability, the measurement of the resulting net retirement benefit is limited to the present 
value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan. 

The Group recognizes retirement benefit costs, comprising of current service cost and net interest 
income or expense in profit or loss. The Group determines the net interest cost by applying the 
discount rate to the defined benefit liability at the beginning of the reporting period, taking into 
account any changes in the defined benefit liability during the period as a result of benefit payments. 

 
Remeasurements of the net retirement benefit liability, which consist of actuarial gains and losses 



 

 

and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), and the effect of asset ceiling (if any, excluding 
interest) are recognized immediately in OCI and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods.   

Foreign Currency-Denominated Transactions 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction.  Outstanding monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated using the closing exchange rate at the reporting date.  Differences arising on settlement or 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss.  

Translation of a Foreign Operation. A foreign operation is a subsidiary, associate, joint arrangement 
or branch whose activities are based or conducted in a country or currency other than those of the 
reporting entity. 

At each reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the foreign operation are translated from its 
functional currency to the Parent Company’s functional and presentation currency using the closing 
rate at each reporting date, while its comprehensive income is translated using weighted average 
exchange rates during the year. 

The exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign operation are recognized in OCI.  
Upon disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign 
operation is reclassified to profit or loss.  

 
Income Taxes 
 
Current Tax.  Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rate and tax laws used in the computation are those 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

Deferred Tax.  Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.  Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefits of unused tax credits from 
the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and 
unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carryforward benefits of unused 
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.  Deferred tax, however, is not recognized when it 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit 
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

Deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business 
combination, or items directly recognized to equity or in OCI. 



 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority.  

 
Related Party Transactions 
Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions.  Such relationships also exist between and/or 
among entities which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or 
among the reporting enterprise and its key management personnel, directors, or its stockholders. 
Related parties may be individual or corporate entities. 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting 
entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.   

Segment Reporting 
The Group reports separate information about its operating segment. 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with 
other components of the same Group) and whose operating results are regularly reviewed to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and for which 
discrete information is available. 

Provisions and Contingencies 
Provisions.  Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.   
 
Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain.   
 
The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.   
If the effect of the time value of money is material, the estimated cash flows are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense.  

Contingencies.  Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  
These are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is 
remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits 
is probable.  

Basic and Diluted Income (Loss) per Share 

Basic Income (Loss) per Share. Basic income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income 
(loss) for the period attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average 
number of issued and outstanding shares and subscribed shares, with retroactive adjustment for any 
stock dividends, stock splits or reverse stock splits during the year. 



 

 

Diluted Income (Loss) per Share. Diluted income (loss) per share is calculated in the same manner as 
basic income (loss) per share, adjusted for the effects of any potentially dilutive, convertible securities. 

Events After the Reporting Date 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial position at 
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 
Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements when material. 

 

3. Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to exercise judgments 
and make accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements and related notes.  The judgments, accounting estimates and 
assumptions used in the consolidated financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation 
of relevant facts and circumstances at the reporting date. 
 
While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant 
differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect 
the estimated amounts.  Actual results could differ from such estimates.  The accounting estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  

The following are the significant judgments, accounting estimates and assumptions made by the 
Group: 

Judgments 
 
Determination of Functional and Presentation Currency. The Group’s consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Philippine Peso, the Parent Company’s functional currency, which mainly 
influences labor, material and other costs of providing goods or services.  The Parent Company and 
its subsidiaries determine their own functional currencies, which best reflect the economic substance 
of the underlying transactions, events and conditions relevant to each entity. 

Based on the economic substance of the underlying circumstances, the functional currency of the 
Group’s subsidiaries, except GGL and PT BES, is the Philippine Peso. The functional currency and 
presentation currency of GGL and PT BES are US Dollar and Indonesian Rupiah, respectively.  

Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets.  Classification and measurement of financial 
assets depend on the results of the contractual cash flow and the business model tests.  The Group 
determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed 
together to achieve a particular business objective.  This assessment includes judgment reflecting all 
relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated, the risks that affect the 
performance of the assets, and how these risks are managed. 

At initial recognition, the Group designated its investments in equity and debt securities as financial 
assets at FVOCI. 

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, refundable deposit and long-term placements 
were classified as financial assets at amortized cost since the Group’s primary business model in 
relation to these assets is to hold the financial assets to collect contractual cash flows solely for 
principal and interest. 



 

 

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments.  The fair values of securities that are actively traded 
in organized financial markets are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted market prices at 
the close of business on the reporting date.  

 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using 
generally accepted valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow models. The models are 
validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of the area that created them 
and are approved by the BOD before these are used. The models are calibrated to ensure that outputs 
reflect actual data and comparative market prices. Further, inputs used in these models are from 
observable data and quoted market prices in respect of similar financial instruments.  
Judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. 

While significant components of fair value measurement were determined using verifiable objective 
evidence, such as foreign exchange rates, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group 
utilized different valuation methodologies and assumptions. Any changes in fair value of these 
financial assets and liabilities would affect the financial statements. 
 
In accordance with the amendments to PFRS 7, disclosures about the level in the fair value hierarchy 
are required in which the fair value measurements are categorized for assets and liabilities measured 
in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

Determination of Operating Lease – Group as Lessor.  The Group, as a lessor, has entered into property 
leases for its investment properties. The Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of these properties.  Accordingly, the leases are accounted as operating 
leases. 

Classification of Investment Properties.  The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an 
investment property or an item of property and equipment. In making its judgment, the Group 
considers whether the property is held primarily to earn rentals or capital appreciation or used for 
operations and administrative purposes by the Group. 

The Group classifies land, building and improvements, and its construction in progress held to earn 
rentals as investment properties. 

Classification  of ROG  Wind  Energy  Corporation  (RDG)  (formerly  Mabini Energy  Corporation)  as 
Disposal Group Held For Sale.   The Group classifies its assets and liabilities as a noncurrent asset as 
held for sale when its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 
than  through  continuing  use.  In  making its  judgment,  the  Group  considers  its  management's 
commitment to sell the asset within one (1) year. When the one-year period is not met, the Group 
determines whether the delay of the sale is caused  by events or circumstances beyond its control 
and there is sufficient evidence that the Group remains committed to its plan to sell the asset. 

On February  14, 2025, the Group executed  the  Deed of Assignment of Shares with  RENOVA for the 
assignment,  transfer,  conveyance of all its  rights  for the  51% common shares of  RDG  in favor of 
RENOVA for a consideration of P68.3 million. 

Determination of Lease Term for Contracts with Extension and Termination Options – Group as a 
Lessee. The Group determines the term of its lease contracts as non-cancellable, together with any 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised,  
or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be 
exercised. 

The Group’s lease contracts includes extension and termination options subject to mutual agreement 
between the Group and its lessors. The Group applies judgment in evaluating whether it is reasonably 



 

 

certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease, considering all relevant 
factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. The 
management assessed that the option to extend or terminate the lease is not reasonably certain to 
be exercised. Accordingly, the Group did not include the periods covered by the extension option as 
part of the lease term, since these are not enforceable at the reporting date. 

Evaluation of the Adequacy of Tax Liabilities.  The Group takes into account the impact of uncertain 
tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its 
accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, 
including interpretation of tax laws and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a  series of judgments about future events.  New information  may 
become available that causes the Group to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing 
tax  liabilities;  such  changes to  tax  liabilities will  impact tax expense in the  period  that such   a 
determination is made. 
 
Determination of Interest in a Joint Arrangement.  A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the 
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.  
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.   
 
The Group classified its interest in joint arrangement with Mariveles Joint Venture Corporation 
(MJVC), as a joint venture in accordance with under PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements after considering 
the following factors: 
 

• the structure and form of the arrangement; 

• the terms agreed by the parties in the arrangement; and 

• the Group’s rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. 

 
Accordingly, the Group accounts for its equity interests in a joint venture using the equity method. 

Existence of Significant Influence over FAP, VINTER, VEPC, ANDRC and EIAC.  The Group assessed that 
it has significant influence where significant influence is presumed under PAS 28, Investments in 
Associates and a Joint Venture having interest ownership of at least 20%. Significant influence has 
been established by the Group over the investees because of its participation in the decision making 
process of the investees’ significant activities, through its representation in the investees’ BOD. 
 
Assessment of Control on PLBRC. An entity is considered as a subsidiary when it is controlled by the 
Group. Control is established when the Group is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its 
involvement with an entity, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. 
  
The Group considers PLBRC as a subsidiary even though it has less than 51% equity ownership because 
it can exercise control over the management and operations of PLBRC. Moreover, majority of PLBRC’s 
assets are being utilized in the Group’s operations. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group include those of PLBRC.  

Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

Assessment for ECL on Trade Receivables.  The Group, applying the simplified approach in the 
computation of ECL, initially uses a provision matrix based on historical default rates for trade 
receivables.  The provision matrix specifies provision rates depending on the number of days that a 
trade receivable is past due.  The Group also uses appropriate groupings if its historical credit loss 
experience shows significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. The Group 



 

 

then adjusts the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information on the basis of 
current observable data to reflect the effects of current and forecasted economic conditions. 

The Group adjusts historical default rates to forward-looking default rates by determining the closely 
related economic factor affecting each customer segment. The Group regularly reviews the 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating ECL to reduce any differences between estimates 
and actual credit loss experience. 

The determination of the relationship between historical default rates and forecasted economic 
conditions is a significant accounting estimate.  Accordingly, the provision for ECL on trade receivables 
is sensitive to changes in assumptions about forecasted economic conditions. 

Assessment for ECL on Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost and Quoted Debt Instruments 
Classified as Financial Assets at FVOCI.  The Group determines the allowance for ECL using the general 
approach based on the probability-weighted estimate of the present value of all cash shortfalls over 
the expected life of financial assets at amortized cost.  ECL is provided for credit losses that result 
from possible default events within the next 12 months unless there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition in which case ECL is provided based on lifetime ECL. 

When determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort and that is 
relevant for the particular financial instrument being assessed such as, but not limited to,  
the following factors: 

• Actual or expected external and internal credit rating downgrade; 

• Existing or forecasted adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions; and 

• Actual or expected significant adverse changes in the operating results of the counterparty. 

The Group also considers financial assets that are more than 30 days past due to be the latest point 
at which lifetime ECL should be recognized unless it can demonstrate that this does not represent a 
significant risk in credit risk such as when non-payment was an administrative oversight rather than 
resulting from financial difficulty of the counterparty. 

For cash in banks and cash equivalents, refundable deposit and debt instruments classified as financial 
assets at FVOCI, the Group assessed that the ECL is not material because the transactions with respect 
to these financial assets were entered only with banks and counterparties with good credit standing 
and relatively low risk of default.  Accordingly, no provision for ECL on these financial assets was 
recognized in 2022, 2021 and 2020.   

Valuation of Inventories at the Lower of Cost or NRV.  The Group writes down the cost of inventories 
whenever NRV becomes lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence, 
changes in price levels or other causes.  The lower of cost or NRV is reviewed regularly to reflect the 
accurate valuation in the financial records.  Inventory items identified to be obsolete and unusable 
are also written off and charged as expense for the period.  
 
No provision for inventory obsolescence is recognized in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income as at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.  
 
Allocation of the Purchase Price in a Business Combination.  The Group accounts for its business 
combinations using the acquisition method which requires extensive use of accounting judgments 
and estimates to allocate the purchase price to the fair market values of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities assumed in a business combination at the acquisition date. Any difference in the purchase 
price and the fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as either goodwill or gain on bargain 
purchase in profit or loss.  The significant judgments and assumptions made in estimating the fair 



 

 

value to be assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities assumed in a business combination can 
materially affect the consolidated financial statements. 
  
The Group engaged an external qualified appraiser to measure the fair values of investment 
properties and property and equipment arising from the acquisition of FECI in 2021. However, the fair 
values of net assets acquired are based on provisional amounts while the Group sought an 
independent valuation of the investment in associates under FECI. As allowed under PFRS 3,  
Business Combinations, the Group has a one-year measurement period from the acquisition date 
within which to finalize the fair values of net assets acquired. Any changes in the provisional fair values 
of net assets acquired will affect the amount of gain on bargain purchase recognized in profit or loss.  

Estimation of the Useful Lives of Property and Equipment.  The Group estimates the useful lives of 
property and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for 
use. The estimates are based on a collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical 
evaluation and experience with similar assets. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment 
are reviewed at each reporting date and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates 
due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the 
use of the assets.   
 
Future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by 
changes in the factors mentioned above.  The amount and timing of recording of depreciation expense 
for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.   

There were no changes in the estimated useful lives of property and equipment as at March 31, 2025 
and December 31, 2024 

Determination of the Fair Value of Investment Properties.  Investment properties are measured at fair 
values. The Group works closely with external qualified appraisers who performed the valuation using 
appropriate valuation techniques. The comparable market data were adjusted as necessary to reflect 
the specific assets’ size, location and other characteristics. The valuation techniques and inputs used 
in the fair value measurement of investment properties are disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Assessment for the Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets.  The Group assesses impairment on 
nonfinancial assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of the assets or group of assets may not be recoverable.  The relevant factors that the Group considers 
in deciding whether to perform an asset impairment review include, among others, the following: 
 

• Significant underperformance of a business in relation to expectations; 

• Significant negative industry or economic trends; and 

• Significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets. 

Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognized.  Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the 
CGU to which the asset belongs.   

The recoverable amount of the asset is the greater of the fair value less cost of disposal or value in 
use.  The fair value less cost of disposal is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an  
arm’s-length transaction, less the cost of disposal.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects the current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  

Determination of the Retirement Benefits.  The determination of the net retirement benefit liability 
and expense is dependent on the assumptions used by the actuary in calculating such amounts. 



 

 

These assumptions are described in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements and include 
discount rates and salary increase rates among others.  Actual results that differ from the Group’s 
assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect the 
recognized expense and recorded liability in such future periods. While the Group believes that the 
assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or 
significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the net retirement benefit liability. 

The Group has net retirement asset in a subsidiary and net retirement benefit liability in the Parent 
Company.  

Estimation of the Incremental Borrowing Rate on Lease Liabilities.  The Group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate to measure lease liabilities.  The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that 
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the ROU asset in a similar economic environment. 
The Group estimates the incremental borrowing rate using available observable inputs (such as the 
prevailing Bloomberg Valuation Service interest rates) adjusted for entity-specific estimates, to reflect 
the terms and conditions of the lease.  

The Group has applied incremental borrowing rate ranging from 3.28% to 6.54% for the computation 
of lease liabilities and ROU assets. 

Assessment of Provisions and Contingencies. The Group evaluates legal proceedings to which it is 
involved based on analysis of potential results.   Management and its legal counsels do not believe 
that any current proceedings will have material adverse effects on its financial position and results of 
operations.   It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by 
changes in estimates or in the effectiveness of strategies relating to these proceedings. 

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets. The Group reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at 
each reporting date and reduces the balance to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
future taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. 

 


